
MINUTES OF THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
January 12, 2009 

 
 
The regular meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals was called to order by Chairman Mark Moore 
at 7:04 p.m. at the Village Hall. 
 
Members present:  Chairman Mark Moore, William Cotey, Kurt Hezner, Terry Howard, Howard 
Jaffe, Walter Oakley, and Andy Robinson. 
 
Members absent:  None. 
 
A quorum was established. 
 
Village Staff present:  John Spoden; Director of Community Development; and David Smith, Senior 
Planner. 
 
Board Member Robinson moved, seconded by Board Member Howard, to approve the December 8, 
2008, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting minutes. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 08-27 Warren Johnson Architects, Inc., Authorized Agent for William Seitz 
  540 W. Peterson Road 
 

Request is for variations to: 1) increase the maximum number of permitted business 
signs from 2 to 9 in order to install gas station signs; and 2) increase the maximum 
permitted gross sign surface area from 154.5 square feet to approximately 182.7 square 
feet for property located in a C-3, General Commercial District. 

 
Chairman Moore recused himself due to conflict of interest with the petitioner. 
 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the petitioner was at the December 8, 2008 Zoning 
Board of Appeals meeting requesting sign variations in order to install gas station related signs for 
property located in a C-3 District.  Mr. Smith stated that during the course of the December 8, 2008 
meeting, the Zoning Board of Appeals made a motion to continue this case to the January 12, 2009, 
Zoning Board of Appeals meeting in order to provide the petitioner an opportunity to reduce both the 
number of signs requested, as well as the gross sign area requested.  Mr. Smith stated that Staff has 
also reviewed past cases in order to determine if the advertisements often found affixed to the gas 
pump dispenser surfaces should be counted as business signs or not.  Mr. Smith stated that Staff has 
determined that small advertisement messages adhered to surfaces of gas pump dispensers shall not 
be interpreted as business signage.  Mr. Smith stated that the proposed gas pump “toppers” shall 
continue to be classified as business signage. 



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 2 of 7 
 
Mr. Ron Ambrose, architect for the petitioner, presented the revised plans for the petition.  Mr. 
Ambrose stated that the number of signs has been reduced and that the sign area has also been 
reduced from the last meeting. 
 
Ms. Joyce Hansen, 1910 Forest Creek, stated that the north end of the car wash site is densely 
forested with natural vegetation.  She stated she would like to see a fence installed if the trees are to 
be removed. 
 
Mr. Bob Seitz, petitioner, stated that he intends to install landscaping along the rear of the property.  
He stated that he will investigate the cost of a fence. 
 
Board Member Howard asked what the petitioner will do if he determines that a fence will be too 
costly. 
 
Mr. Seitz stated that he will either install a fence or install additional landscaping to help screen his 
property from the residents to the north. 
 
Board Member Cotey asked for clarification as to how Staff interprets advertisements on pump 
toppers versus the advertisement stickers affixed to the gas pump surfaces.  Mr. John Spoden, 
Director of Community Development stated that the Village has not interpreted advertisement 
stickers affixed to the gas pump surfaces as business signs, but has interpreted advertisements on 
pump toppers as business signage. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 08-27.1), Board Member Cotey moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, 
to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to increase the maximum number of 
permitted business signs from 2 to 9 in order to install gas station signs for property located in a C-3 
General Commercial District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
In the matter of ZBA 08-27.2), Board Member Cotey moved, seconded by Board Member Robinson, 
to recommend the Village Board of Trustees approve a variation to increase the maximum permitted 
gross sign surface area from 154.5 square feet to approximately 182.7 square feet for property 
located in the C-3, General Commercial District, in accordance with the plans submitted. 
 
Motion carried 6 - 0. 
 
ZBA 08-18 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required Perimeter Landscaped 

Open Space from 25 feet to 6 feet along the Cook Avenue right of way property line for 



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 3 of 7 
 

the building, 10 feet from the Brainerd Avenue right-of-way property line for the 
building and 6 feet for the reconfigured parking lot, and approximately 7 feet from the 
Church Street right-of-way property line for the reconfigured parking lot in order to 
construct a building addition to the Cook Memorial Library in an IB, Institutional 
Buildings District. 

 
ZBA 08-19 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to increase the maximum permitted number of wall signs 

from 1 to 2 in order to re-locate 2 quasi-public signs on the Cook Memorial Library 
building in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 

 
ZBA 08-28 Gilfillan Callahan Nelson Architects, Authorized Agent for Cook Memorial 

Public Library District 
  413 N. Milwaukee Avenue 
 
 Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum number of parking spaces from 62 to 

56 in an IB, Institutional Buildings District. 
 
Mr. David Smith, Senior Planner, stated that the petitioner was before the Zoning Board of Appeals 
at their November 24, 2008 meeting requesting approval for variations to reduce the minimum 
required Perimeter Landscaped Open Space, reduce the minimum required number of parking 
spaces, and increase the maximum number of permitted signs in order to construct a building 
addition to the Cook Memorial Public Library, reconfigure its parking lot, and relocate 
nonconforming wall signage located in an IB, Institutional Buildings District at 413 N. Milwaukee 
Avenue. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that during the course of the November 24, 2008, Zoning Board of Appeals 
meeting, the members of the Zoning Board of Appeals made a motion to continue this case to the 
January 12, 2009 meeting in order to provide the petitioner an opportunity to revise their plans in 
response to concerns provided by Staff and members of the Zoning Board of Appeals primarily 
relative to the driveway access points for the reconfigured parking lot. 
 
Mr. Smith stated that since the November 24, 2008 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting, the petitioner 
has reviewed with Staff several alternative site plans each showing varied parking lot layouts, 
number of parking spaces, and locations for the ingress and egress.  Mr. Smith stated that varied site 
plan configurations labeled as Exhibits A through H have been included in the Zoning Board of 
Appeals board member distribution packets. 
 
Mr. Pat Callahan, architect for the petitioner, stated that the petitioner is before the Zoning Board of 
Appeals tonight to discuss the variation requests and the Staff review comments, as well as any of 



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 4 of 7 
 
the alternative site plans, but then will request a continuance to next month’s Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
Mr. Aaron Lawler, Board President, Library District Board, stated that the key concern is having 
enough parking spaces on site.  He stated that they prefer a minimum of 50 parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Callahan stated that they have researched other library facilities and have retrieved vehicle 
stacking and service window counts.  He stated that the public library in Algonquin serves 
approximately 5 vehicles per hour during non-peak time periods.  He stated that they serve up to 20 
vehicles during the 4:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. peak hour time period at their service drive up window. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked for clarification as to the disposition of the book mobile.  Mr. 
Callahan stated that the book mobile service will transfer to the Vernon Hills library location. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked for clarification as to the slope of the parking lot grade.  Mr. 
Callahan stated that the parking lot grade slope is sufficiently level. 
 
Board Member Jaffe asked for clarification as to how the petitioner weighed pedestrian and vehicular 
safety against a minimum 50 parking space request when less than a block away the Village will 
construct a new parking deck that could accommodate library patrons.  Mr. Lawler stated that many 
of the library patrons will use the new parking deck, but many have requested that the library 
preserve as many parking spaces as possible.  He stated that currently, many library staff members 
park at the Methodist church parking lot and walk from a west to east direction to get into the library. 
 
Board Member Jaffe stated that he prefers site plans labeled F and G. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked if the library could have an unlimited number of parking spaces, 
what would be the minimum number of parking spaces.  Mr. Dan Armstrong, Director of the library, 
stated that 100 parking spaces would be desirable. 
 
Mr. Lawler stated that Cook Memorial Public Library is in the top 10 State wide for circulation. 
 
Board Member Robinson stated that the data provided by the petitioner regarding the trips generated 
along Brainerd Avenue is from 2001 and does not reflect the traffic generated today.  He stated that 
he is supportive of a site plan that provides two entrances and two exits.  He stated that the parking 
lot should be a one-way flow. 
 
Board Member Howard stated that the criteria that he used when reviewing the library parking lot 
site plan includes safety, necessity, and convenience.  He stated that he prefers that there be no exit 
onto Brainerd Avenue.  He stated that he would like to see any on site pedestrian and vehicular 
conflict mitigated as much as possible.  He stated that two curb cut locations are better than one.  He  



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 5 of 7 
 
stated that the would like to see at least 3 handicap parking spaces retained.  He stated that he prefers 
site plan labeled F first and site plan labeled D second.  He stated that the parking space length does 
not appear to be 19 feet in depth and that this should be confirmed by Staff. 
 
Mr. Armstrong stated that the Evergreen Vernon Hills library location has a 250,000 per year 
circulation of materials and they are at 1.6 million circulation of materials at the Cook Park location. 
 
Board Member Howard asked why the library needs the drive up window.  Mr. Armstrong stated that 
they have the busiest library in Lake County and that the drive up window will help to mitigate some 
of the parking need. 
 
Mr. Lawler stated that they would like to have 3 parking spaces along Cook Avenue reserved for 
limited times during the day for library patron parking. 
 
Mr. John Spoden, Director of Community Development, stated that any parking within the public 
right of way designated for the library will require Village Board approval. 
 
Board Member Howard stated that he would like to see more data from the Algonquin library 
regarding traffic generated and vehicles queuing, especially for their drive up window.  He stated that 
the petitioner should update their own traffic study as well. 
 
Board Member Jaffe stated that he prefers site plan labeled G, and secondly site plan labeled F.  He 
stated that Highland Park did not have any on-site parking. 
 
Mr. Armstrong stated that the Highland Park library is different than the Cook library. 
 
Ms. Wendy Vieth, Trustee for the library, stated that parking in the future parking structure has a 
negative perception relative to security issues.  She stated that the book drop will help the parking 
issue at the library. 
 
Board Member Cotey stated that consideration should be given to comparing physical space versus 
personal convenience when planning the parking lot layout and its access.  He stated that he likes site 
plan G the most.  He stated that he has a problem with the location of the book drop and service 
window.  He stated that he likes the singular traffic flow.  He stated that consideration should be 
given to posting parking signs that give preference to vehicles with pregnant women, vehicles with 
small children, and the elderly. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated that he likes site plan F the most.  He asked that the petitioner include 
construction related phasing and as to where the construction trades and contractors will park their 
vehicles during construction.  He stated that he is concerned about the transformer location.  He 
requested that the petitioner demonstrate how and where the utilities would tie into the site 
development. He stated that he would like to see bike racks shown on the site plan.  He requested 
that the petitioner clarify the justification of trees numbered 3, 4, 5, and 18 on the tree survey for 



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 6 of 7 
 
their removal.  He stated that he wants the landscape plan to identify the quality of the plant species.  
He stated that the petitioner should provide additional justification for the response to the Standards 
for Variations, in particular to Standard G relative to justification for the request to encroach into the 
Perimeter Landscape Open Space.  He advise the petitioner to be upfront about the self-creation of 
the unique physical condition of the development. 
 
Chairman Moore stated that he is concerned about the location of the service window, the traffic 
flow, and the number of parking spaces and the potential negative impact on safety. 
 
Board Member Hezner stated that more consideration should be given to eliminating the traffic 
turning conflicts. 
 
Chairman Moore stated that he prefers site plan labeled G the most.  He stated that he is grateful to 
the petitioner for providing all of the site plan options for discussion. 
 
Board Member Robinson asked if consideration to build up as opposed to a larger footprint was 
given. 
 
Mr. Lawler stated that there is an estimation of $10,000,000 for the project and to add a second story 
would add more to the cost. 
 
Board Member Howard asked the petitioner to explain the breakdown of the circulation of materials. 
Mr. Armstrong stated that approximately 45% belong to the audio visual materials and 
approximately 55% belong to books. 
 
Board Member Hezner asked what the future plans for the library will be.  Mr. Armstrong stated that 
it is the intent of the library to provide the community multiple services, including meeting rooms for 
various community groups and individuals.  He stated that the library’s vision is to take further 
advantage of the interplay between the library and Cook Park.  Board Member Hezner stated that the 
building design does not reflect the cultural importance of the proposed building for the community 
on a prominent site in downtown Libertyville 
 
In the matters of ZBA 08-18, ZBA 08-19, and ZBA 08-28, Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by 
Board Member Robinson, to continue these items to the February 23, 2009, Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ZBA 08-25 Lucas Ackerman, Applicant 
  162 Broadway Avenue 
 



Minutes of the January 12, 2009, Zoning Board of Appeals 
Page 7 of 7 
 

Request is for a variation to reduce the minimum required corner side yard setback 
from 30 feet to approximately 10 feet in order to construct a single-family home in an 
R-8, Multiple-Family Residential District. 

 
The applicant has requested that this item be re-noticed for the February 9, 2009, Zoning Board 
of Appeals meeting. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Board Member Jaffe moved, seconded by Board Member Hezner, to adjourn the Zoning Board of 
Appeals meeting. 
 
Motion carried 7 - 0. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:35 p.m. 


